IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 12-773

ETHERIA V. JACKSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIA E. DELIBERATO Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 664251

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0005584 Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr., Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619 (813)740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Jackson's motion for post conviction DNA testing brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Mr. Jackson has always maintained that he is not guilty of the murder of Linton Moody. Mr. Jackson has always said that Linda Riley killed Mr. Moody. Mr. Jackson only helped Ms. Riley dispose of the body after the murder. The courts have never granted Mr. Jackson an evidentiary hearing after his conviction and sentence to death, even thought he alleged significant violations of his constitutional rights and the jury recommended death by a mere 7-5 majority.

Mr. Jackson was tried, convicted, and sentenced to death in Jacksonville, Florida. The court entered judgment and sentence August 8, 1986. Despite the presentation of unrebutted mitigating evidence, the trial judge found no mitigating circumstances. The judge found five aggravating circumstances. This Court affirmed Mr. Jackson's sentence, despite holding that one of the aggravating circumstances was unsupported by the evidence. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 488 U.S. 1050 (1989).

Governor Martinez included Mr. Jackson's death warrant among five signed March 29, 1990, a year when at least 38 warrants were signed. The Capital Collateral Representative was responsible for most of the cases in which warrants were signed, and was overwhelmed. Counsel responsible for Mr. Jackson's post-

1

conviction pleadings at that time overlooked ineffective assistance of counsel claims due to the untenable case load imposed by the Governor's actions. The claims which were raised in Mr. Jackson's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion for post-conviction relief were summarily denied without an evidentiary hearing. This Court denied Mr. Jackson's appeal and also denied state habeas corpus relief. Jackson v. State, 633 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1993). Mr. Jackson timely filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Federal District Court, Northern District of Florida. The Federal District Court and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals denied relief. Jackson v. Crosby, 437 F.3d 1290 (11th Cir. 2006).

Mr. Jackson filed a *pro se* successive motion for post conviction relief in the circuit court July 8, 2003. Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle (CCRC-M) filed a notice adopting the *pro se* motion August 18, 2003. The claims made did not require an evidentiary hearing, and the parties filed closing arguments. The post conviction court denied the motion June 23, 2005. This Court affirmed, Jackson v. State, 952 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 2006)(unpublished order).

On April 24, 2007, Mr. Jackson filed a successive 3.851 motion based on the newly discovered evidence of Angel Diaz' botched execution. That motion was summarily denied by the state circuit court January 27, 2009 and a Motion for Rehearing was denied on February 19, 2009. Mr. Jackson timely appealed that summary denial to this Court under case number SC09-828, which was affirmed in

part. This Court rejected Mr. Jackson's lethal injection claim, but reversed the denial of Mr. Jackson's challenge to the constitutionality of Fl. Stat. 27.702. This Court granted relief on that claim "only to the extent that chapter 27 permits CCRC attorneys to represent capital defendants in method-of-execution challenges raised under section 1983." Jackson v. State, 50 So.3d 1137 (Fla. 2010) (unpublished order).

On April 28, 2010, while Mr. Jackson's lethal injection appeal was pending, he filed a Motion for Post Conviction DNA Testing in the state circuit court pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853. In the motion, Mr. Jackson notified the court that four of the five items he was seeking to test could not be located at either the Clerk's Office or the Sheriff's Office. Because the evidence could not be located, Mr. Jackson asked for an evidentiary hearing to determine the location of the evidence. ROA Vol. I, p. 12. Mr. Jackson also argued that denying him access to the evidence for DNA testing would violate his due process and equal protection rights under the Federal and Florida Constitutions. <u>Id.</u> at 12-13.

Without requiring a response by the State, on December 15, 2011, the state circuit court issued an order denying Mr. Jackson's motion. The Order did not contain any legal analysis or any factual findings supporting the denial of the motion. Mr. Jackson filed a motion for rehearing on December 30th, 2011 alleging that the state circuit court failed to follow the procedures set forth in Fl. R. Crim.

Pro. 3.853 (c)(2). On January 6, 2012, the state circuit court entered its Order granting rehearing and directing the State to file a response to Mr. Jackson's 3.853 motion. The State filed its response on or about February 6, 2012, conceding that four of the five items were missing. Less than three weeks later, on February 24, 2012, the state circuit court denied Mr. Jackson's Motion for DNA testing. The circuit court failed to hold any type of hearing to determine the location of the evidence or address Mr. Jackson's arguments. This timely appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the time of the murder, Linda Riley, Mr. Jackson's girlfriend, lived with her two children at 1770 Payne Street in Jacksonville. TR Vol. XVI, p. 567. Mr. Jackson, who sometimes stayed at the apartment, was the father of the youngest child, Letheria. <u>Id.</u> Ms. Riley had purchased a washing machine from the victim Mr. Moody and was making monthly payments of \$39.95. <u>Id.</u> at 568. Ms. Riley would pay Mr. Moody out of her \$240 monthly AFDC check. <u>Id.</u> at 569. Ms. Riley testified that Mr. Moody would come by at the beginning of every month, carrying large amounts of cash. He would cash her AFDC check for her and take out his payment. <u>Id.</u> This went on for seven to eight months before the murder. Id.

Between 8:30 and 9:00 a.m. on December 3, 1985, Mr. Moody came to the apartment to collect his money. <u>Id.</u> at 571. Ms. Riley testified as to what

4

happened after Mr. Moody arrived at the apartment that morning. Ms. Riley was the State's only purported eyewitness to the murder. According to Ms. Riley, after Mr. Moody arrived, she went to the mailbox to get her AFDC check and when she came back, Mr. Jackson had come downstairs and was talking to Mr. Moody. Id. at 573. Ms. Riley claimed after Mr. Moody cashed her check, Mr. Jackson walked behind Mr. Moody, put a knife to his neck, and then forced him to the floor. <u>Id.</u> at 574. Ms. Riley testified that she tied Mr. Moody's hands and went through his pockets, but only at the direction of Mr. Jackson. Id. at 575-577. Ms. Rilev testified that Mr. Jackson also went through Mr. Moody's pockets and took out money. Id. at 576. Ms. Riley testified that at some point her daughter came downstairs and Ms. Riley carried her back upstairs. Id. at 578. She claimed that when she came back downstairs, Mr. Jackson was choking Mr. Moody with a belt. Id. Ms. Riley testified that as Mr. Moody struggled, Mr. Jackson began beating Mr. Moody in the face with his arm cast. Id. at 579.

According to Ms. Riley, while this attack was going on in her living room, Ms. Riley went to the kitchen to make breakfast for the children. <u>Id.</u> at 579. When she looked back in the living room, she claimed that Mr. Jackson was straddled across Mr. Moody's chest and was stabbing him with a knife. <u>Id.</u> She testified that she saw the knife break and that Mr. Jackson got another knife and continued stabbing him. <u>Id.</u> at 579-580. After Mr. Moody was dead, Ms. Riley testified that

she and Mr. Jackson rolled him up in the carpet. <u>Id.</u> at 587. Then Ms. Riley went to get Mr. Moody's car and drove it around back of the apartment where she then helped to load the body into the back of his station wagon. <u>Id.</u> at 587-88. Ms. Riley testified that Mr. Jackson drove off with the body. <u>Id.</u>

Ms. Riley remembered throwing away the knife that had broken, but could not recall what she had done with the other knife, and may have put it in the sink. TR Vol. XV, p. 641. She also threw one of the belts away, but could not recall if it was the belt used to strangle Mr. Moody or the belt used to tie him up. <u>Id.</u> at 639-640. Ms. Riley testified that she and Mr. Jackson used Mr. Moody's money for various things, including making payments on outstanding bills, buying clothes and a new rug, and renting a car. <u>Id.</u> at 649-657. Ms. Riley enjoyed the profits of this crime for several days before she decided to go to the police on Thursday, December 5, 1985. This also happened to be the same day that Mr. Moody's body was found. TR Vol. XIV, p. 549. Ms. Riley testified that at some point during her encounter with the police, Detective Warren told her that she could either be a defendant or a witness. TR Vol. XV, p. 682.

Mr. Moody's body was found on after law enforcement investigated a report of an abandoned car at 3491 Brentwood Avenue. TR Vol. XIV, p. 508. The body was still rolled in the carpet in the back of the station wagon, and Officer Godbee with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office arranged for a flat bed wrecker to take the car and its contents to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement Crime Lab. <u>Id.</u> at 514. Once there, the carpet was unrolled and photographed. <u>Id.</u> at 515. Mr. Moody's body was taken to the Office of the Medical Examiner where an autopsy was performed. Dr. Lipkovic turned over Mr. Moody's clothing to Detective Warren on December 16, 1985. ROA Vol. I, p. 18. The items Detective Warren received from Dr. Lipkovic included Mr. Moody's tan pants and his eyeglasses. <u>Id.</u>

Detective Warren testified at the trial regarding statements that Mr. Jackson made to him after his arrest for the murder of Mr. Moody. According to Detective Warren's testimony, Mr. Jackson was not present when Mr. Moody was killed and Mr. Moody was already deceased and rolled up in the carpet when Mr. Jackson saw him. TR Vol. XVI, p. 828. Mr. Jackson maintained that it was Linda Riley who killed Mr. Moody and he only helped her to cover it up by helping her dispose of the body. <u>Id.</u> at 829, 838.

Mr. Jackson sought DNA testing on the following evidence 1) The arm cast recovered from Mr. Jackson (Entered as State's Exhibit 29), 2) Two butcher knives collected from Linda Riley's apartment on December 6, 1985 by Detective Warren and Detective Moneyhun and stored in the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office under property control number 8513844, 3) The brown belt collected from Linda Riley's apartment on December 6, 1985, by Detective Warren and Detective Moneyhun and stored in the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office under property control number 8513844, 4) Mr. Moody's tan pants collected by Detective Warren from the Medical Examiner on December 16, 1985, and stored in the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office under property control number 8514263, and 5) Mr. Moody's eye glasses collected by Detective Warren from the Medical Examiner on December 16, 1985, and stored in the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Collected by Detective Warren from the Medical Examiner on December 16, 1985, and stored in the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Collected by Detective Warren from the Medical Examiner on December 16, 1985, and stored in the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office under property control number 8514263.

An investigator from CCRC contacted the Jacksonville Sheriff's office on March 17, 2010, to inquire about the location of the above evidence. The Sheriff's Office acknowledged that the above property control numbers were part of their numbering system. However, the Sheriff's Office indicated that the computer system showed that the above evidence was not in its possession. The investigator then spoke with property custodian James Burt who sent a fax verifying that all of the evidence was transmitted to the Clerk's Office in 1986. ROA Vol. I, p. 17.

The investigator traveled to the Clerk's Office on March 23, 2010 to view the evidence. The arm cast was present and preserved in a plastic bag. The remaining evidence was not in the possession of the Clerk. Therefore, Mr. Jackson asserted in his 3.853 Motion that the last known location of the butcher knives, brown belt, tan pants, and eyeglasses was the property room of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office under the property control numbers listed above. ROA Vol. I, p. In its Response, the State asserted that four of the five items Mr. Jackson sought to have tested were no longer in the possession of the State. ROA Vol. I, p. 39. The State's Response included an affidavit from the same property custodian, James Burt. The affidavit stated that the items listed under property control numbers 8514263 and 8513844 "were *likely* destroyed from the water damage in the Christopher Building." <u>Id.</u> at p. 57(emphasis added). The State further argued that even if the four missing items could be located, Mr. Jackson has not demonstrated that DNA testing of those four items would exonerate him.

Mr. Jackson argued that the state circuit court should hold an evidentiary hearing to determine the location of the missing evidence. The state circuit court denied this request in its order denying relief. The state circuit court found that "the claims in the motion are purely speculative and fail to demonstrate a reasonable probability that the movant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if DNA evidence related to them had been admitted at the trial." ROA Vol. I, p. 319. The state circuit court did not address Mr. Jackson's constitutional claims. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

9.

The lower court erred in failing to grant relief for the following reasons. First, Mr. Jackson made a sufficient showing under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853 that he should be allowed to conduct DNA testing on the evidence. Mr. Jackson asserted that he is innocent of the murder of Linton Moody and innocent of the death penalty, that there exists a reasonable probability that DNA testing would exonerate Mr. Jackson or mitigate his death sentence, and that his identification as the murderer is in dispute. Every requirement of the rule was met.

Second, the lower court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing to determine the location of the missing evidence. The affidavit produced by the state that the evidence was "likely" destroyed was insufficient. The State failed to provide documentation as to when the alleged water damage occurred and whether Mr. Jackson's evidence was even in that location at the time of the damage. Further, Mr. Burt had previously implied that the evidence was in the custody of the Clerk. Absent a full and fair hearing, the lower court's finding that the evidence is missing is speculative.

Finally, the lower court's denial of Mr. Jackson's request to submit this evidence for DNA testing violates his rights under the due process and equal protection clauses of the Florida and United States constitutions. As noted above, the lower court wholly failed to address Mr. Jackson's constitutional claims.

10

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because this issue involves a mixed question of law and fact, this Court should apply a standard of *de novo* review, with deference given to any factual findings by the lower court that are supported by competent, substantial evidence.

ARGUMENT I

MR. JACKSON MADE A SUFFICIENT SHOWING FOR POST CONVICTION DNA TESTING UNDER FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.853 AND SECTION 925.11, FLORIDA STATUES. THEREFORE, THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. JACKSON'S MOTION.

Mr. Jackson has always maintained that he is not guilty of the murder of Linton Moody, that it was Linda Riley who killed Mr. Moody and that Mr. Jackson only helped Ms. Riley dispose of the body after the murder. DNA testing was unavailable at the time of Mr. Jackson's trial. The strongest evidence against him came from Linda Riley, who was never arrested or charged for her role in the crime. When offered a choice between being a witness or a defendant, she unsurprisingly chose to be a witness. Without her testimony, the State would not have been able to convict Mr. Jackson and secure a death sentence against him. The DNA testing sought by Mr. Jackson would tend to exonerate him or mitigate his sentence. He satisfied all of the requirements in the statute and rule, and DNA testing should have been granted.

Florida Statutes, § 925.11, provides as follows:

(1) Petition for examination.—

(a) 1. A person who has been tried and found guilty of committing a crime and has been sentenced by a court established by the laws of this state may petition that court to order the examination of physical evidence collected at the time of the investigation of the crime for which he or she has been sentenced which may contain DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) and which would exonerate that person or mitigate the sentence that person received.

(b) A petition for post-sentencing DNA testing under paragraph (a) may be filed or considered at any time following the date that the judgment and sentence in the case becomes final.

Rule 3.853, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides, in pertinent part, the

requirements that must be met for the court to grant a motion for DNA testing as

follows:

(b) *Contents of Motion*. The motion for postconviction DNA testing must be under oath and must include the following:

(1) a statement of the facts relied on in support of the motion, including a description of the physical evidence containing DNA to be tested and, if known, the present location or last known location of the evidence and how it originally was obtained;

(2) a statement that the evidence was not tested previously for DNA, or a statement that the results of previous DNA testing were inconclusive and that subsequent scientific developments in DNA testing techniques likely would produce a definitive result establishing that the movant is not the person who committed the crime;

(3) a statement that the movant is innocent and how the DNA testing requested by the motion will exonerate the movant of the crime for which the movant was sentenced, or a statement how the DNA testing will mitigate the sentence received by the movant for that crime;

(4) a statement that identification of the movant is a genuinely disputed issue in the case and why it is an issue or an explanation of how the DNA evidence would either exonerate the defendant or mitigate the sentence that the movant received;

(5) a statement of any other facts relevant to the motion; and

(6) a certificate that a copy of the motion has been served on the prosecuting authority.

Florida courts have determined that the purpose of the DNA testing statute is "to provide defendants with a means by which to challenge convictions where there is 'credible concern that an injustice may have occurred and DNA testing may resolve the issue." <u>Zollman v. State</u>, 820 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) (quoting <u>In re Amendment to Fla. Rules of Criminal Procedure Creating</u> Rule 3.853 (DNA Testing), 807 So. 2d 633, 636 (Fla. 2001).

The threshold sufficiency requirement has intentionally been established to offer broad access to the review process. Accordingly, "a claim is facially sufficient with regard to the exoneration issue *if the alleged facts demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that the defendant would have been acquitted if* the DNA evidence had been admitted at trial." <u>Knighten v. State</u>, 829 So. 2d 249, 252 (Fla. 2d DCA. 2002) (emphasis supplied); <u>King v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1247 (Fla. 2002).

The crux of the State's argument and the lower court's ruling was that because Mr. Jackson vigorously challenged the State's evidence at trial through cross examination and argued that Linda Riley was the actual killer, Mr. Jackson's 3.853 motion did not demonstrate "a reasonable hypothesis...in which that evidence [he is seeking to test] would change the outcome in the defendant's favor." ROA Vol. II, p. 314. Each piece of evidence will be discussed in turn.

1. Arm Cast

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