IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ETHERIA JACKSON

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC 12-773

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In his motion for DNA testing, Jackson requested six items to be tested. The collateral court correctly concluded that Jackson is not entitled to DNA testing because Jackson failed to establish DNA testing would probably result in an acquittal or a life sentence.

One of the items, the arm cast worn by Jackson at the time of the murder, is still in the possession of the state. The other items are not. The only item remaining was also the only item, among those requested to be tested, that was introduced into evidence at trial. The jury heard that Jackson's arm cast did not contain even a trace of Mr. Moody's blood. Jackson used the lack of blood on the cast to argue that Riley was the real killer. Accordingly, DNA testing would not likely lead to an acquittal or life sentence.

Even if the other items, requested to be tested, were still in the state's possession, Jackson merely speculates that the items would have Moody or Riley's DNA evidence on them. He also speculates the presence of this DNA, and perhaps the absence of his own, would have probably resulted in an acquittal or a lesser sentence. This Court has consistently ruled that Rule 3.853 is not intended to be fishing expedition а with speculation used as bait.

Moreover, even though most of the items requested to be tested are no longer in the State's possession, the trial court committed no error in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing. This Court has held the trial judge commits no error in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing to inquire into the other factual findings required by Rule 3.5853 (c)(5) if the trial judge finds the defendant fails to demonstrate that DNA testing would probably produce an acquittal or lesser sentence.

Finally, Jackson cannot show the denial of DNA testing violates his constitutional right to equal protection or due process. On at least two occasions, this Court has rejected the same claim.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE COLLATERAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING JACKSON'S MOTION FOR DNA TESTING

The defendant spreads one claim into three in his brief on appeal from the denial of his motion for DNA testing. In reality, however, Jackson brings only one claim: did the trial judge properly deny Jackson's motion for DNA testing without an evidentiary hearing. The State submits the answer is yes!

I. Jackson did not bear his burden set forth in Rule 3.853?

This Court has ruled that in order to be entitled to DNA testing, pursuant to Rule 3.853, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the movant is required to lay out with specificity how the DNA testing of each item requested to be tested would give rise to a reasonable probability of acquittal or a lesser sentence. The defendant has the burden to demonstrate the need for testing. This Court has explained this burden this way: "[i]t is the defendant's burden to explain, with reference to specific facts about the crime and the items requested to be tested, how the DNA testing will exonerate the defendant of the crime or will mitigate the defendant's sentence." Lott v. State, 931 So.2d 807, 820 (Fla.2006) (emphasis added) (quoting Robinson v. State, 865 So.2d 1259, 1265 (Fla.2004)). When the defendant cannot show that DNA will prove or negate a material fact, the

request for testing should be denied. <u>Scott v. State</u>, 46 So.3d 529 (Fla. 2009). *See also <u>Overton v. State</u>*, 976 So.2d 536, 569 (Fla.2007) (affirming denial of post-conviction DNA testing because it would not prove or disprove any material fact); <u>King v. State</u>, 808 So.2d 1237, 1247-49 (Fla.2002) (affirming denial of DNA testing when defendant could not show that the result would raise a reasonable probability of acquittal); <u>Galloway v. State</u>, 802 So.2d 1173, 1175 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (affirming denial of DNA testing, concluding that a mere allegation that the DNA would not match was insufficient to establish that the defendant was not present and a co-participant in the crime).

This Court has also made clear that "the burden is on the movant to 'demonstrate the nexus between the potential results of DNA testing on each piece of evidence and the issues in the case.'" Van Poyck v. State, 908 So.2d 326, 329 (Fla.2005) So.2d 27). Hitchcock, 866 at This Court has (quoting consistently rejected claims in which the defendant was merely speculating and has repeatedly cautioned that "[r]ule 3.853 is not intended to be a fishing expedition." Lott v. State, 931 So.2d at 820-21 (quoting Cole v. State, 895 So.2d 398, 403 (Fla.2004)).

In this case, the trial court properly denied Jackson's motion for DNA testing because Jackson failed to make a

threshold showing that DNA testing would exonerate him of the crime or mitigate his sentence. Indeed, Jackson's motion demonstrates he wishes to go on a fishing expedition and wants this Court to provide the boat.

Jackson's defense at trial was that Linda Riley killed Mr. Moody and he helped her cover it up. (TR Vol. XIV 478). Riley was Jackson's live in girlfriend. Linda Riley testified she was instead, an eyewitness to the actual murder perpetrated by Etheria Jackson.

Riley admitting to taking part in other aspects of the crime, albeit it, according to her, unwillingly for the most part, such as taking money from the victim's pockets, tying his hands, putting a gag in his mouth, taking her check back Mr. Moody had cashed for her [and cashing it again] rolling the victim up in the rug, getting him out of the house and into the victim's own car, going through the victim's car for valuables and stealing his gun from the glove compartment. She also admitted that after Jackson disposed of the victim's body, she and Jackson spent the money Jackson took from Mr. Moody to pay bills, to replace the rug they used to wrap his body in, and to go shopping. (TR Vol. XIV 601).

Riley testified at trial about the events leading up to, and after, the murder. In addition to being Jackson's live-in

girlfriend, Ms. Riley was a customer of Mr. Moody. Riley had purchased a washing machine from Moody and was paying it off in installments.

Moody had somewhat unusual (but apparently effective) method of collecting payments. To facilitate timely payment, Moody would get cash from the bank around the first of the month, travel to his customers (rather than them to him), cash their government checks, deduct the monthly payment, and return the remaining monies to his customer. (TR Vol. XIV 494-495).

Four days prior to his death and pursuant to his unusual collection method, Mr. Moody cashed a check at the bank for \$4,000. (TR Vol. XIV 502). According to Mr. Moody's brother, it was not uncommon for his brother to carry large bills when he went out on his collection calls. (TR Vol. XIV 502).

The day before his death, Mr. Moody went to Riley's home to collect the monthly installment payment. (TR Vol. XIV 570). She was not home and Moody left his business card in her door. (TR Vol. XIV 570). Jackson found Moody's card in Riley's door. (TR Vol. XIV 570).

The next day, Mr. Moody returned to collect Ms. Riley's payment. Riley testified that on December 3, 1985, Mr. Moody came to her home to collect her monthly payment at about 8:30 or 9:00 in the morning. (TR Vol. XIV 571). She, Jackson and her

two children were at home. When Mr. Moody arrived at her door, Ms. Riley told him that she had not yet received her check but that it probably was in the mailbox. (TR Vol. XIV 572). Mr. Moody suggested she put on something warm as it was cool outside. Ms. Riley went upstairs to get a sweater. Jackson was upstairs. He asked who was at the door. Ms. Riley told him it was Mr. Moody. (TR Vol. XIV 572).

Ms. Riley went out to the mailbox to get her check. When she returned to the house, Jackson was downstairs talking to Moody. (TR Vol. XIV 573). Ms. Riley told the jury that Jackson had a cast on his right arm. (TR Vol. XIV 573).

Ms. Riley gave her check to Mr. Moody. He gave her \$200 cash and wrote out a receipt for the installment payment. (TR Vol. XIV 573). At first, he gave her larger bills (all \$50s). She requested small bills and Mr. Moody obliged. (TR Vol. XIV 573). Mr. Moody had a large wad of money in his possession. (TR Vol. XIV 574).

When Mr. Moody had finished the transaction and given Ms. Riley a receipt, Jackson grabbed Moody from behind and pointed a knife at his neck. Riley asked Jackson what he was doing. Jackson told her to shut up. (TR Vol. XIV 574).

Jackson forced Moody to the floor and told Mr. Moody to get on his stomach. Jackson "helped" him to comply when Moody

resisted. (TR Vol. XIV 575). Moody told Jackson he was having problems with his breathing and asked to sit up. Jackson told him to lay on his stomach anyway. (TR Vol. XIV 575). Jackson turned Moody onto his side and told Riley to check his pockets. (TR Vol. XIV 575). Moody told her to do what he said. (TR Vol. XIV 576). Moody did not resist. Jackson also went through Mr. Moody's pocket. He took Mr. Moody's money. (TR Vol. XIV 576). Jackson even took Riley's money. When Riley protested, Jackson told her to get her check from Moody. She did. (TR Vol. XIV 576).

Jackson also instructed Riley to tie Mr. Moody's hands. She did so but was not able to tie him tightly enough. According to Riley, Jackson told her he would kill her if Moody got loose. (TR Vol. XIV 577).

Although Mr. Moody asked for mercy and offered Jackson anything he wanted, Riley told the jury she saw Jackson choking Moody out with a belt. Riley told Jackson to stop but he didn't. Mr. Moody urinated on himself and blood trickled from his nose. (TR Vol. XIV 578). Riley believed that Moody was rendered unconscious by Jackson's actions in choking him with the belt. Jackson stopped choking Mr. Moody and Mr. Moody began to come around. He was moaning and Jackson told him to shut up. At some point, Ms. Riley put a rag doll in Mr. Moody's mouth.

(TR Vol. XIV 618). She also tied a scarf around Mr. Moody's mouth. (TR Vol. XV 634).

Riley testified that when Mr. Moody did not shut up, Jackson took his cast and started beating Moody in the face. According to Riley, there might have been a few blood specks that got on Jackson's cast. (TR Vol. XIV 579). Jackson later washed his cast. (TR Vol. XIV 579).

Riley testified that she saw Jackson straddling Mr. Moody and saw his arm going up and down. Jackson was stabbing Mr. Moody. Riley told the jury the knife broke on the outside of Mr. Moody's chest. (TR Vol. XIV 579). Jackson got another knife and started stabbing him again. Mr. Moody was down on the floor on his back while Jackson was stabbing him. (TR Vol. XIV 580). The knife was in Jackson's left hand. (TR Vol. XIV 581).

When Jackson was done, Jackson got up and walked away. Jackson thought about what to do next. Jackson decided to roll Mr. Moody's body in Riley's carpet. Both Jackson and Riley rolled Mr. Moody's body up in the carpet. (TR Vol. XIV 587). At Jackson's behest, Riley got Mr. Moody's car and drove it around the back of her house. She went through the glove box for money. She found a gun instead and concealed it on her person. Later, Riley turned the gun over to the police. (TR Vol. XIV 587).

Jackson flagged down a passerby and asked for assistance putting a "rug" into the back of their car. The passerby obliged and then men loaded Mr. Moody's body in the trunk of his own car. (TR Vol. XIV 588). Jackson drove away.

About 45 minutes later, Jackson returned with two men she had never met before. (TR Vol. XIV 596). All three men went into her kitchen. Jackson had some cocaine and asked her to inject it into his arm. (TR Vol. XIV 595-596).

One of those two men, Edward Doldron testified that he and a friend were driving North on David Street in Jacksonville, Florida when Jackson flagged then down. Mr. Doldron's friend, David, knew Jackson and told Doldron to stop the car. Jackson came up to the car and asked them whether they knew where he could get some cocaine. (TR Vol. XV 709). Mr. Doldron told Jackson he did not have much gas in his car. Jackson told Doldron, "No problem, I'll fill your tank, I have money all over, I just hit a sweet lick." (TR Vol. XV 712). Jackson did not explain what he meant. (TR Vol. XV 712). Jackson did not say he had killed anyone. (TR Vol. XV 721).

Mr. Doldron saw the money Jackson had. Jackson had stacks of \$20 bills in a fold. There were about four or five stacks. (TR Vol. XV 713). Jackson had the money in his front pocket. (TR Vol. XV 713). Mr. Doldron later saw that Jackson also had

stacks of \$50 bills in his pocket. There were about three or four stacks of \$50 bills. The bills were carefully folded up. (TR Vol. XV 714). Jackson told Mr. Doldron that he did not know how much money he had. (TR Vol. XV 714).

Mr. Doldron and his friend took Jackson to buy some cocaine. After that, they went to Jackson's house. Mr. Doldron had never been there before. (TR Vol. XV 715). They used cocaine together. (TR Vol. XV 716). Jackson had Riley inject him. He was too nervous to do it. (TR Vol. XV 716).

Mr. Moody's body was found in his car still wrapped up in the carpet. (TR Vol. XIV 509). Jackson's fingerprints were found on the victim's calling card box, which was found with his body. (TR Vol. XIV 509).

When Jackson was interviewed by the police, Jackson claimed that Riley killed the victim and he was not even present at the scene. (TR Vol. XVI 825). Jackson told Detective Warren that he had spent the night before at a friend's house named Freddie (Johnson). 1 When he arrived at Riley's home, Mr. Moody was already dead and rolled up in a carpet. (TR Vol. XVI 825). Jackson told Detective Warren that Linda had a large amount of

¹ Jackson lied to Warren when he told him that story. (TR Vol. XVI 840). Mr. Johnson testified Mr. Jackson did not spend the night with him before the murder. Indeed, Mr. Johnson testified that Jackson told him to lie to the police in order to give him an alibi. Jackson also told his mother several versions of the murder.

money in her pocket and confessed to killing Mr. Moody. (TR Vol. XVI 826). Jackson said he never saw the body. (TR Vol. XV 828). Jackson told the officer that he and Riley took the carpet out to Mr. Moody's car.

The carpet was too heavy to get it into the car so Jackson solicited the help of a young boy and the three of them put the carpet in the back of Mr. Moody's station wagon. Jackson told Detective Warren, at first that Linda had driven off alone and disposed of the body. Jackson later told Warren that he and Linda drove off together and disposed of Mr. Moody's body. (TR Vol. XVI 829).

Jackson told Detective Warren that he and Linda went shopping together with Mr. Moody's money. (TR Vol. XVI 831). Jackson told Detective Warren that one of their purchases was a replacement carpet. Jackson used the name of Anthony Freeman to buy the rug. (TR Vol. XVI 831).

Later on the same afternoon, Detective Warren spoke with Jackson again. Detective Warren wanted to check Jackson's cast for evidence. He got a search warrant for the cast.

During the time, he was with Jackson, Jackson told Detective Warren, "Boy you have me like a hawk." (TR Vol. XVI 835). Jackson also told Detective Warren "I had the opportunity." (TR Vol. XVI 835). Warren told Jackson that he

still did and could tell him the truth. Jackson told him, "Not really, I have to go with what I told you, I can't change my story now." (TR Vol. XVI 835). Jackson also told Warren that "I can beat you, you can't prove this on me." (TR Vol. XVI 835). Warren told Jackson they were taking the cast to look for blood. (TR Vol. XVI 846). Jackson admitted that he had washed his cast because it had been dirty. (TR Vol. XVI 836, 846).

(a) The cast

The first item that Jackson asks to be tested is Jackson's arm cast. Jackson points to the medical examiner's testimony that Mr. Moody had lacerations and bruises on his mouth consistent with being struck by a cast. (IB 14). Jackson posits that if this testimony is accurate, Mr. Moody's blood, salvia, and/or skins sells would be present on the cast. (IB 14).

Jackson cannot show that DNA testing on the cast would exonerate him of the crime. This is so for two reasons. First, if Mr. Moody's DNA is on the cast, such evidence would support Linda Riley's story and point to Jackson's guilt not innocence. If, on the other hand, Mr. Moody's DNA is not present on the cast, it still will do Jackson no good. This is so because the jury heard, as this Court noted, that an examination of the cast, after Jackson's arrest, failed to produce any blood trace evidence. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988)(noting

that the examination of the cast failed to produce any blood trace evidence). (TR Vol. XVI 971-973). Jackson used this absence of any trace of Mr. Moody's blood on the cast to argue that Riley was not credible and that Riley was the actual killer. (TR Vol. XVII 1125). The jury convicted Jackson anyway.

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